08/12/2022

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 22-0182

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Case No. DA 22-0182

BROADWATER COUNTY, MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

and

HELENA INDEPENDENT RECORD,

Defendant and Appellee,

v.

PERSON WITH AN INTEREST IN THE RELEASE OF CONFIDENTIAL CRIMINAL JUSTICE INFORMATION PERTAINING TO THE INVESTIGATION AND PROSECUTION OF JASON ELLSWORTH: JASON ELLSWORTH,

Defendant and Appellant.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District, In and for the County of Broadwater, Cause No. DV-2022-02; Honorable Kathy Seeley, Presiding

Appearances:

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the District Court err in ordering the dissemination of Jason
 Ellsworth's confidential criminal justice information without requiring
 service of the Complaint on Mr. Ellsworth and without allowing Mr.
 Ellsworth the opportunity to brief privacy protection issues?
- 2. Did the District Court err in ordering the dissemination of Jason Ellsworth's confidential criminal justice information without providing appropriate procedural safeguards?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 19, 2022, Plaintiff/Appellee Broadwater County ("Broadwater") filed its Complaint for Declaratory Relief. (Doc. 1). The Complaint sought a determination from the Court regarding the dissemination of Defendant/Appellant Jason Ellsworth's ("Ellsworth") confidential criminal justice information ("CCJI"). (Doc. 1). The Complaint was never served on the Defendants.

At the time of filing the Complaint, Broadwater filed a Motion for Leave to Deposit Investigative File Under Seal with the Court. (Doc. 2). This Motion was served by mail on the Defendants. In response, Ellsworth filed his Brief in Opposition to Release of Confidential Criminal Justice Information. (Doc. 5). Ellsworth argued the criminal case was not complete and thus any release of CCJI would be premature. Ellsworth also requested the parties be allowed to brief

Ellsworth's right to privacy versus the public's right to know once the criminal case was complete.

No other filings were made by any parties in the case. On March 17, 2022, the District Court issued its Order Following *in Camera* Review. (Appendix to Appellant's Opening Brief ("App.") A). Therein, it ordered Broadwater to provide to Defendant/Appellee Helena Independent Record ("Helena IR") Ellsworth's CCJI. It is from this Order which Ellsworth appeals.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Broadwater's Complaint and Motion were precipitated by two requests from Helena IR for the file relating to misdemeanor charges against Ellsworth. (Doc. 1, ¶ 7). Further, Broadwater specifically requested "[a]fter receiving responses from persons interested in the disclosure of the information, the Court make a finding whether the demands of personal privacy outweigh the public's right to know, and the Court order either release of the information or withholding of the information, as appropriate." (Doc. 1, p. 5).

The Complaint was never served on Ellsworth. The Complaint was not served on Helena IR. In fact, Ellsworth did not receive a copy of the Complaint until this appeal was filed. Neither Ellsworth nor Helena IR filed an Answer in the underlying matter.

On January 19, 2022, Broadwater filed its Motion for Leave to Deposit Investigative File Under Seal with the Court. (Doc. 2). The Motion merely requested leave to deposit the Investigative File, which was CCJI, with the District Court, to enable the Court's *in camera* review of the file for possible disclosure. (Doc. 2, p. 2). This Motion was served via U.S. Mail on Ellsworth and Helena IR. (Doc. 2, p. 2). The Motion also noted Ellsworth was opposed to the filing of any motions in the matter because there was no final disposition in the criminal matter. (Doc. 2, p. 2).

On February 8, 2022, in response to being served a copy of Broadwater's Motion, but having not been served or provided with the Complaint, Ellsworth filed his Brief in Opposition to Release of Confidential Criminal Justice Information. (Doc. 5). Therein, Ellsworth set forth his position that the criminal case would not be completed under Montana Code Annotated § 44-5-303 until the deferred sentence ran on August 2, 2022. (Doc. 5, p. 1). Ellsworth also requested once the criminal case was completed, that the parties to the matter be allowed to brief the issue of Ellsworth's right to privacy versus the public's right to know. (Doc. 5, p. 2). In the Response, Ellsworth requested the District Court reject the release of any Confidential Criminal Justice Information and should analyze the release upon completion of the deferred sentence. (Doc. 5, p. 2).

No other filings were made by any other party in the matter. Broadwater only filed its Motion for Leave to Deposit Investigative File Under Seal with the Court. Helena IR never filed any motions, and never appeared in the underlying case.

Despite neither defendant being served, and despite Ellsworth's request for additional briefing, the District Court issued its Order Following *in Camera*Review on March 17, 2022. (App. A). The investigative file which was reviewed *in camera* consisted of the following:

- 1. A Montana Highway Patrol dashcam video dated January 25, 2021;
- 2. A Montana Highway Patrol dashcam video dated May 23, 2021;
- 3. Documents contained in a file labeled Evidence + Dissemination eDiscovery1, 31 pgs.;
- 4. Documents contained in a file labeled Evidence + Dissemination eDiscovery2, 10 pgs.'
- 5. Documents contained in a file labeled Evidence + Dissemination + Form+-+Media, 1 pg.;
- 6. IAJUDGMENTORDERBOOKANDRELEASEMOTIONTOWITHDRA WPLEA.pdf, 5pgs.¹;

4

¹ Ellsworth is not certain what this document pertains to as he has never received it, and never sought to withdraw his plea.

- 7. Motion+to+Dismiss+Charges.pdf, 2 pgs.;
- 8. Screenshot+2021-05-25+161253.jpg, 1 pg.; and
- 9. Recording of short voicemail from Jason Ellsworth to Trooper Gifford. (App. A, p. 2). The District Court indicated it had reviewed the investigative file and concluded that a redacted version of the file should be released to Helena IR. (App. A, p. 3). The District Court also held "[t]here will be no additional opportunity for briefing," (App. A, p. 5), while chastising Ellsworth for not addressing the right to know and the right of privacy balancing test despite his request for briefing on the issue. (App. A, p. 4). The District Court also held the criminal case was complete. (App. A, p. 5). Based on its own analysis, without service of the complaint, without answers to the complaint, and without briefing from any of the parties, the District Court ordered, in pertinent part:
 - Broadwater County shall provide to Helena Independent Record or other interested persons, a copy of the file items listed above, with the exception of number 4, "Documents contained in a file labelled Evidence + Dissemination eDiscovery2, 10 pgs."
 - 2. Broadwater County will also redact any social security numbers, driver license numbers and dates of birth. It appears the social security numbers have already been redacted but driver license numbers and dates of birth

have not been redacted. Broadwater County shall verify that these items are redacted.

(App. A, p. 8).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a district court's conclusions of law to determine whether the court's interpretations of the law is correct. *Jefferson County v. Montana Standard*, 2003 MT 304, ¶ 9, 318 Mont. 173, 79 P.3d 805.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court erred when it ordered dissemination of Ellsworth's confidential criminal justice information. Specifically, neither defendant was served with the Complaint in the underlying case. Ellsworth was never provided the same file as the District Court nor given the opportunity to see the totality of the information provided to the Court to address specific privacy issues.

Thereafter, the District Court did not allow Ellsworth the opportunity to brief whether the information should be disseminated and did not require Helena IR to show it was entitled to receive Ellsworth's CCJI, despite his request to the contrary.

Additionally, the District Court erred when it did not include procedural safeguards when ordering dissemination of Ellsworth's CCJI. Specifically, the

District Court should have ordered Helena IR it could not copy or publish the information in the CCJI.

ARGUMENT

1. The District Court erred when it ordered dissemination of Ellsworth's confidential criminal justice information without requiring service on Ellsworth and without allowing Ellsworth the opportunity to brief the matter.

As set forth above, the Complaint in this matter was never served on either defendant in the underlying matter. Neither defendant filed an Answer or other responsive pleading to the Complaint. The issue was not ripe for the District Court to act.

The Motion to for Leave to Deposit Investigative File Under Seal with the Court was mailed to both defendants. Helena IR did not respond or acknowledge the motion. Ellsworth did appear and responded to the motion, as an effort to make sure he did not waive any future arguments. In his response, Ellsworth requested once the criminal case was completed, that the parties to the matter be allowed to brief the issue of Ellsworth's right to privacy versus the public's right to know. (Doc. 5, p. 2).

The District Court's docket reflected neither defendant had been served, but it nonetheless issued its Order Following *in Camera* Review on March 17, 2022.

(App. A). It did so without either defendant briefing the issue. It did so without Broadwater briefing the issue – Broadwater only filed a motion to deposit the CCJI

with the District Court, it did not move the Court to make a decision regarding dissemination. Essentially, the District Court acted on its own accord, without either interested party being served, without any party moving for the information to be released, and without Ellsworth being allowed to review the entire file provided to the Court to identify with specificity those items which needed protection and redaction. At no time has Ellsworth suggested that the entire file is protected from release. Instead, he sought the opportunity to protect his individual privacy rights.

Additionally, the District Court held the criminal case was complete, contrary to Ellsworth's opinion. (App. A, pp. 4-5). Since the District Court held the criminal case was complete, it should have ordered Broadwater to serve the Complaint on the parties, and the parties could have then appropriately responded and addressed dissemination versus privacy issues. Montana Code Annotated § (5)(a)(iii)(B) specifically requires notice be given to a person with a protected privacy interest "that the person may file an objection to disclosure with the district court if the person believes a privacy interest that they possess exceeds the merits of public disclosure." Instead, the District Court held "[t]here will be no additional opportunity for briefing." (App. A, p. 5).

This Court addressed a similar situation where there was no briefing done in *Ravalli County v. Erickson*, 2004 MT 35, 320 Mont. 31, 85 P.3d 772. Therein, the

parties stipulated to submit the matter without briefing or oral argument. *Ravalli County*, ¶ 6. This Court then reversed and remanded, ordering the district court to make a determination after any briefing and fact-finding it deemed appropriate. *Ravalli County*, ¶ 19. Justice John Warner provided further explanation in his concurrence as to why not having briefing by the parties was inappropriate. He noted after the complaint and a response, the parties did nothing. *Ravalli County*, ¶ 22 (J. Warner concurring). "There was no briefing, no argument, and to paraphrase the county attorney, 'we'll just let the judge handle it from here." *Id*. He went on to point out if this type of procedure was allowed to stand, the adversary system would be bypassed in the district courts. *Ravalli County*, ¶ 23 (J. Warner concurring). Specifically, Justice Warner stated:

It is then probable that one side or the other would be dissatisfied and appeal to this Court. The appellant's brief would merely state, "I think the order should be reversed." The response brief would merely state, "I don't," and the decision would be left to this Court. Of course, if the appellate court were to follow the rule that judgments will not be reversed based on arguments that were not made in the district court, the decision could not be reviewed because no arguments were made.

Id. Here, the parties are in a similar situation. Ellsworth and Helena IR never responded to the Complaint and certainly did not stipulate to waiving briefing. However, just as in *Ravalli County*, since there was no appropriate briefing before the District Court, the case should be reversed and remanded. See Ravalli County, ¶ 19.

Regarding cases involving CCJI, this Court has held "in cases involving confidential criminal justice information, an inevitable conflict exists between the public's right to know and an individual's right to privacy." *Jefferson County*, ¶ 14. In order to deal with the conflict, the party requesting the information is *required* to make a showing that it is entitled to receive such information. *Id*. (emphasis added). Here, Helena IR was the party requesting the information, yet the District Court relieved Helena IR of making the requisite required showing. Without appearing in the case, and without appropriate briefing, Helena IR never met this requirement. Accordingly, the District Court erred when issuing its Order without first having Helena IR meet its burden.

Additionally, once the party requesting the information makes a showing of entitlement, the request must be balanced against the privacy interest of the individual in question. *Jefferson County*, ¶ 15. Again, the parties would need to actually brief the issue for the District Court to make this determination. Instead, it acted on its own accord when issuing its Order and disregarded Ellsworth's request for the issue to be briefed. This constitutes reversible error and this Court should remand the case to the District Court. Broadwater could then serve the Complaint and an appropriate briefing schedule should be ordered.

//

//

2. The District Court erred when it ordered dissemination of Ellsworth's confidential criminal justice information without providing appropriate procedural safeguards.

In the event this Court agrees it was appropriate for the District Court to issue its Order without the defendants being served or briefing the issue, it must consider whether the District Court provided appropriate procedural safeguards for dissemination. Ellsworth does not believe it did.

This matter is similar to *Jefferson County*. Therein a County Commissioner was arrested for DUI and driving with an expired license. *Jefferson County*, ¶ 4. A newspaper requested Jefferson County provide it with information regarding the arrest. Jefferson County, ¶ 5. Jefferson County filed a complaint for declaratory relief. Jefferson County, ¶ 6. Thereafter, the newspaper filed a motion for summary judgment and the district court conducted a hearing on the motion. *Id*. After the hearing, the District Court requested the information be submitted for an in camera inspection. Id. The information consisted of a police officer's report and two video tapes. Jefferson County, ¶ 7. Following in camera review, the District Court ordered release of the information. Id. "However, the order stated that while Montana Standard could report on the contents of the information, it could not copy or publish the video tapes." Id. Additional documents were submitted for review. Jefferson County, ¶ 8. Again, the documents were released, but under the condition the newspaper was prohibited from copying or publishing

the documents. *Id*. The supplement order also required the Commissioner's social security number and driver's license number be removed from the documents before they were released. *Id*.

This Court held such conditions were proper to be included by the District Court. *Jefferson County*, ¶ 20 ("Thus, it was proper for the District Court to shield information that was not relevant to [the Commissioner's] status as a public official from public scrutiny."). Thus, while the Commissioner did not have a protected privacy interest in her arrest information, she did retain a privacy interest in other types of personal information not relevant to her status as a public official. *Id*.

In the underlying case, the only condition the District Court placed on dissemination of Ellsworth's was for Broadwater to redact any social security numbers, driver license numbers and dates of birth. (App. A, p. 8). Thus, the District Court only put in place one of the two conditions this Court held appropriately protected a public official's privacy. *See Jefferson County*, ¶ 20 ("[T]he District Court ordered that [the Commissioner's] information be released to [the newspaper] under the following conditions: (1) [The newspaper] was prohibited from copying or publishing the information; and (2) [The Commissioner's] social security number and driver's license number would be removed from the information before it was released").

Here, the District Court should have followed through with the conditions this Court had already approved of in *Jefferson County*. Namely, the District Court should have prohibited Helena IR from copying or publishing Ellsworth's CCJI. The District Court did not do so, despite citing to *Jefferson County* in its Order. (App. A, pp. 6-7). Accordingly, this Court should remand the matter to the District Court and instruct it to include in its order regarding dissemination that Helena IR is prohibited from copying or publishing Ellsworth's CCJI.

CONCLUSION

The District Court erred when issuing its Order Following *In Camera*Review. (App. A). The District Court ordered dissemination of Ellsworth's confidential justice information without the Complaint ever being served. The District Court never provided Ellsworth the opportunity to review the CCJI submitted for *in camera* review. Most importantly, the District Court did not allow Ellsworth the opportunity to brief whether the information should be disseminated and did not require Helena IR to show it was entitled to receive Ellsworth's CCJI. The District Court should not have reached the merits of the case without briefing by the interested parties.

Further, the District Court erred when it did not include appropriate procedural safeguards regarding dissemination of Ellsworth's CCJI. Namely, the

District Court did not require Helena IR to not copy or publish the information in

the CCJI.

For the reasons set forth herein, Defendant/Appellant Jason Ellsworth