Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 22-0182

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Cause No. DA 22-0182

BROADWATER COUNTY, MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

and

HELENA INDEPENDENT RECORD,

Defendant and Appellee,

v.

PERSON WITH AN INTEREST IN THE RELEASE OF CONFIDENTIAL CRIMINAL JUSTICE INFORMATION PERAINING TO THE INVESTIGATION AND PROSECUTION OF JASON ELLSWORTH,

Defendant and Appellant.

On Appeal from Montana First Judicial District Court, Broadwater County Cause No. CDV-2022-02, Hon. Kathy Seeley District Court Judge

APPELLEE HELENA INDEPENDENT RECORD'S RESPONSE BRIEF

APPEARANCES:

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court correctly found that the CCJI declaratory judgment action was ripe and timely. Section 44-5-303(5)(a), MCA, authorizes such an action when a criminal prosecution "has been completed by entry of judgment, dismissal or acquittal...." Broadwater County's complaint confirmed that the criminal

prosecution was complete and it attached the resulting judgment, satisfying the statute's requirements.

Ellsworth's argument below—that his criminal case was incomplete, notwithstanding the entry of judgment, because he received a deferred sentence—was not properly raised or preserved for appeal. It is also wrong. This Court has repeatedly held that a deferred imposition of a criminal sentence is a final judgment that disposes of a criminal case. Thus, the prosecution was completed by a judgment and the declaratory judgment action was timely.

Ellsworth's further argument on appeal—that he was deprived of the chance to file a substantive brief because he was not served with the complaint or a copy of the CCJI file—was not preserved, either. Ellsworth did not object below and he opted to make a voluntary appearance, waiving any service defects. In any case, the CCJI statute does not require that privacy claimants be formally joined, but only that they be given notice and opportunity to file a privacy objection. Ellsworth had actual notice and opportunity. He filed a brief. He simply declined to lodge a substantive objection, betting on his erroneous procedural argument.

To the extent the Court is inclined to revisit the merits of the district court's decision about the propriety of disclosing the CCJI, the district court correctly exercised its discretion in ordering the release of the investigative file.

Ellsworth's only argument on this point is another new one. He contends that the district court, even if it allowed disclosure to the IR, should have restricted further publication of the investigative file. This Court has never required or approved such restrictions which are constitutionally problematic.³ Whether a court can restrict dissemination of records beyond the requesting party in *any* case, after finding the records are within the public's right to know and do not implicate any legitimate right to privacy, is not something this Court presently needs to decide. Ellsworth waived this issue, too. He did not ask for any such restrictions so the district court could not have abused its discretion by failing to impose any.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

With respect to the issue of whether the CCJI declaratory judgment action was timely (Argument I, *infra*), Ellsworth cites the correct standard. A district court's interpretation of a statute is reviewed *de novo*. *Tipton v. Mont. Thirteenth Jud. Dist. Court*, 2018 MT 164, ¶ 9, 392 Mont. 59, 421 P.3d 780 (citing *Sartain v. State*, 2017 MT 216, ¶ 9, 388 Mont. 421, 401 P.3d 701).

With respect to the issue of whether the district court properly resolved the records request (Argument II, *infra*), Ellsworth omits the relevant standard. A

³ The case Ellsworth cites on this point, *Jefferson County. v. Montana Standard*, 2003 MT 304, 318 Mont. 173, 79 P.3d 805, is discussed in Argument II, *infra*.

district court's decision to release public records, following *in camera* review, is entitled to deference and is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *See Missoula Cnty*. *Public Schools v. Bitterroot Star*, 2015 MT 95, ¶ 10, 378 Mont. 451, 345 P.3d 1035.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY REJECTED ELLSWORTH'S BID TO DELAY CONSIDERATION OF THE CCJI REQUEST.
 - A. Ellsworth's original argument was not developed or preserved and is contrary to the CCJI statute and this Court's precedent.

Ellsworth argued below that the CCJI declaratory judgment action was premature because he was given a deferred sentence. *See* Dkt. 4. This argument, the only one Ellsworth made, was not preserved and is meritless.

He failed to preserve his argument in two ways.

First, Ellsworth's "brief in opposition" to the complaint was not a proper vehicle for raising his argument. The brief was not a responsive pleading or a motion authorized by M.R.Civ.P. 12 and the only informal objection permitted in a CCJI statute is a privacy objection under § 44-5-303(5)(a)(iii)(B), MCA. Ellsworth's brief did not invoke his right to privacy but argued he should be allowed to do so later. In effect, he sought a stay of proceedings without filing a motion. A request for relief, not set forth in a motion and stating the particular grounds for granting it, is not properly before the court and is not preserved for

appeal. See Rule 7(b)(1), M.R.Civ.P. ("A request for a court order must be made by motion."); In re Estate of Burrell, 2010 MT 280, ¶ 36, 358 Mont. 460, 245 P.3d 1106; Crone v. Crone, 2003 MT 238, ¶ 37, 317 Mont. 256, 317 Mont. 256.

Second, Ellsworth's procedural objection, i.e. that the case was untimely due to his deferred sentence, was unsupported by any citation to legal authority. *See* Dkt. 4. This Court will "not consider unsupported arguments; nor [does it] have an obligation to formulate arguments or locate authorities for parties on appeal." *Herman v. State*, 2006 MT 7, ¶ 22, 330 Mont. 267, 127 P.3d 422; *see also Murphy v. Westrock Co.*, 2018 MT 54, ¶ 14, 390 Mont. 394, 414 P.3d 276 (undeveloped, skeletal arguments or "passing references" to theories not "supported by legal authorities ... are insufficient to preserve an issue for appeal").

Ellsworth's argument is also wrong. Had he conducted even cursory research to vet his theory, he would have found it is at odds with settled precedent.

Section 44-5-303(5)(a), MCA, authorizes a county attorney to initiate a CCJI declaratory judgment action upon receipt of a request for information about a criminal case "that has been completed by entry of judgment, dismissal, or acquittal...." A "judgment" is "an adjudication by a court that the defendant is guilty or not guilty, and if the adjudication is that the defendant is guilty, it includes the sentence pronounced by the court." § 46-1-202(11), MCA. A "sentence" is a

"judicial disposition of a criminal proceeding upon a plea of guilty or nolo contendere or upon a verdict or finding of guilty." § 46-1-202(25), MCA.

Under these definitions, "any judicial disposition of a criminal case resulting from a plea, verdict or finding of guilt is itself a sentence, regardless of whether actual punishment is deferred or immediately imposed." State v. Rice, 275 Mont. 81, 84, 910 P.2d 245, 246 (1996) (emphasis added). Thus, a deferred sentence is a final judgment that "judicially dispose[es] of the criminal proceeding at issue" even though the case may later be reopened for resentencing or retroactive dismissal. Id. at 82-85, 910 P.2d at 246-47; see also State v. Thibeault, 2021 MT 162, ¶ 13, 404 Mont. 476, 490 P.3d 105 ("a deferred imposition of sentence is a final dispositive judgment of conviction and sentence..."); State v. Essig, 2009 MT 340, ¶ 34, 353 Mont. 99, 218 P.3d 838 ("A deferred sentence constitutes a conviction and final judgment."); State v. Tomaskie, 2007 MT 103, ¶ 13 337 Mont. 130, 157 P.3d 691 ("the imposition of a deferred sentence does constitute a conviction and final judgment..."); Davis v. State, 2004 MT 112, ¶ 16, 321 Mont. 118, 88 P.3d 1285 (a deferred sentence is a "judicial disposition of a criminal proceeding") (all emphases added).

Ellsworth offers no contrary authority and the only authority that favors his position is no longer good law. In *Thibeault*, this Court considered *In re Williams*,

145 Mont. 45, 54, 399 P.2d 732, 737 (1965), which held that an order that defers pronouncement of a sentence is not a final judgment. *Thibeault* explained that *Williams* was interpreting different statutory language under the pre-1991 criminal code. Under the current code, in effect the last thirty years, a deferred imposition of a sentence is not merely a "stay" of sentencing but a sentence in and of itself amounting to a final judgment. *Thibeault*, ¶ 19, n. 13; *id.* ¶ 21, n. 16.

Recognizing a deferred sentence as a final judgment, for purposes of the CCJI declaratory judgment statute, also makes good sense and comports with sound public policy. Even if the conditions of a deferred sentence are breached, such that the court must reopen the case for resentencing, there is no risk that disclosure of CCJI will cause problems or interruptions. The investigation and prosecution are already complete and a conviction secured by a guilty plea.

Moreover, if Ellsworth's theory were correct, the public's right to know could be frustrated for months or years when a case is resolved by a guilty plea and a deferred sentence, while the same records would be immediately subject to review for public disclosure in the event of a dismissal or acquittal. It makes no sense that the public's right to know would ripen with respect to a criminal defendant who has been exonerated of the charges, but not with respect to a defendant—and especially a public official—who has pled guilty. It would

arbitrarily afford some criminal defendants a tool to postpone public scrutiny in the hope that public interest might fade, as Ellsworth no doubt intended here.

This is at odds with § 44-5-303, MCA, which provides for an expedited procedure in CCJI disputes to give timely effect to the public's right to know. There is no motion to release the documents required, and no opportunity for later briefing, as Ellsworth surmised. When a CCJI declaratory judgment action is initiated, privacy claimants have thirty days to object then the court decides whether to permit disclosure and on what terms. § 44-5-303(5)(a)(v)(A), MCA.

In summary, Ellsworth is determinedly wrong that the district court needed to await completion of the deferral period before entertaining and deciding the CCJI request. Ellsworth pled guilty and the court entered a judgment. The criminal case was "completed by entry of judgment" so the CCJI declaratory judgment action was ripe and timely under § 44-5-303(5), MCA.⁴

B. Ellsworth's new argument was also not preserved and is incorrect.

Still unable to support the argument he made below, Ellsworth pivots. He principally argues, instead, that he was deprived of opportunity to file a substantive

⁴ The district court found, alternatively, that Ellsworth's argument failed because a county attorney can initiate a CCJI declaratory judgment action, even when a criminal case is *not* completed, when disclosure is in the public interest. *See* § 44-5-303(5)(a), MCA; Dkt. 6, p. 5. Ellsworth has not challenged this alternative ground for the district court's decision, which affords an independent basis to affirm.

objection because he was not served with the complaint and did not receive the investigative file. Ellsworth's new argument is deficient in at least three ways.

First, Ellsworth failed to preserve this argument, too. He did not complain to the district court about insufficient service or lack of opportunity to review the investigative file. It is "well established" that this Court will not consider new arguments and theories raised for the first time on appeal. *Pilgeram v. GreenPoint Mortg. Fund'g, Inc.*, 2013 MT 354, ¶ 20, 373 Mont. 1, 313 P.3d 839. This restraint is "rooted in fundamental fairness to the parties" and prevents litigants from withholding arguments, taking a chance on a favorable outcome, then changing theories on appeal. *Id.* ¶ 21. It is also a matter of fairness to the district court, which cannot be faulted for failing to decide issues Ellsworth did not raise. *Schlemmer v. N. Cent. Life Ins. Co.*, 2001 MT 256, ¶ 22, 307 Mont. 203, 37 P.3d 63; *Ganoung v. Stiles*, 2017 MT 176, ¶ 28, 388 Mont. 152, 398 P.2d 282.

Second, Ellsworth was not entitled to the rights he belatedly claims.

The CCJI statute does not presume that a privacy claimant like Ellsworth gets access to the sealed records in a declaratory judgment action. Naturally, there may be multiple competing privacy interests, so the records are not automatically turned over to anyone. Ellsworth presumably also has a good idea of what the file contains, sufficient to articulate an objection. He is their subject, after all, and had

access to the records in criminal discovery.

With respect to Ellsworth's new complaint about lack of service, the modified procedure for CCJI declaratory judgment actions is spelled out by § 44-5-303, MCA. In contrast with ordinary declaratory judgment actions that require joinder of all interested parties, CCJI disputes do not require that privacy claimants be formally joined or served. Upon filing a CCJI declaratory judgment action, the county attorney must:

[M]ake reasonable efforts to provide notice to ... any person with a protected privacy interest in information contained in the confidential criminal justice information ... of the request for release of confidential criminal justice information and the filing of the declaratory judgment action; and ... provide notice that the person may file an objection to disclosure with the district court if the person believes a privacy interest that they possess exceeds the merits of public disclosure.

§ 44-5-303(5)(a)(iii)(A)–(B), MCA; compare § 44-5-303(5)(a)(ii), MCA (the requesting party must be named as a defendant). Whether Ellsworth was formally joined and served is thus irrelevant to his ability to assert his right to privacy. He was entitled to notice and opportunity to object, which he had. He made an appearance and could have lodged an objection but declined, instead attempting to forestall the court's decision by arguing that it was premature.

Third and finally, Ellsworth affirmatively waived his objection about service

by appearing in the declaratory judgment action to complain about ripeness without also filing a Rule 12(b)(5) motion. The "only purpose" of a summons is to bring a party into court so, when a party appears voluntarily, the "summons ceases to have any function and any defects in it or in the proceedings by which it was obtained become immaterial." *Haggerty v. Sherburne Merc. Co.*, 120 Mont. 386, 295–95, 186 P.2d 884, 890 (1947). It is "too late to complain" after appearing voluntarily, for any reason other than to object about service, which appearance "cures all defects or irregularities in the process as well as want of service." *Barber v. Briscoe*, 8 Mont. 214, 19 P. 589, 590 (1888); *see also MacPheat v. Schauf*, 1998 MT 250, ¶ 12, 291 Mont. 182, 969 P.2d 265 (objections to sufficiency of service must be raised in a party's initial responsive filing under penalty of waiver).

Ellsworth's untimely new procedural arguments were not preserved, were affirmatively waived, and otherwise lack merit.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN ORDERING THE RELEASE OF THE CCJI.

Notwithstanding Ellsworth's failure to lodge a timely privacy objection, the district court correctly undertook to review the documents and weigh potential privacy interests against the public's right to know. *See Jefferson County*, ¶ 19 (it is proper to conduct *in camera* review and attempt to identify and protect any legitimate privacy interests even if a privacy claim has not been asserted).

On appeal, Ellsworth does not engage the district court's analysis. He does not contest the court's conclusion that he is an elected official with a substantially reduced expectation of privacy, that he lacked a reasonable expectation of privacy in this case, or that the public's right to know outweighed any privacy rights he might claim. Ellsworth only complains that the court failed to employ "procedural safeguards" by restricting the IR from further copying or publishing the records.

This is another untimely new argument. The district court discharged its statutory and constitutional obligations by reviewing the records and making a discretionary judgment about what should be released and on what terms. Ellsworth never asked the court to restrict publication of any of the records or to impose any other conditions on their release. The court cannot be faulted "for failing to address an issue that was not presented to it." *Ganoung*, ¶ 28. To the extent any conditions or restrictions might have been appropriate, beyond the redactions the court ordered, Ellsworth waived the opportunity to seek them and failed to preserve this issue for appeal.

Ellsworth is also wrong that courts must always restrict copying and dissemination of CCJI beyond the requesting party, which he characterizes as mandatory "procedural safeguards." Ellsworth infers a bright-line rule based on *Jefferson County*, *supra*, which affirmed an order that released CCJI to a media

outlet but restricted further copying or publication. *Id.* ¶¶ 7–8, 20. Contrary to Ellsworth's reading, this Court in *Jefferson County* did not approve this practice.

In that case, the party that requested the records did not contest the district court's restrictions on further dissemination. Whether the restrictions were legally permissible or appropriate was not at issue and was not addressed by the parties' briefs. *See* App. 2 (Appellant's Opening Brief); App. 3 (Respondent's Answer Brief), pp. 4–5, 8, 20. Naturally, this Court did not address the issue, either. The opinion's reference to these restrictions was merely a recitation of the procedural posture of the case regarding an uncontested issue. At most, it was *obiter dictum*.

It is also noteworthy that, while this Court expressed no opinion about the restrictions on copying and publication, it expressly approved the district court's other condition, i.e. redaction of social security and driver's license numbers. *Id.*¶¶ 19–20. Having found a continuing privacy interest in the personal identification numbers, the Court deemed the redaction of that information an appropriate safeguard that did not contravene the public's right to know. *Id.* The publication restrictions could not have been justified in the same way, given the Court's determination that there was otherwise no reasonable expectation of privacy in the contents of the investigate file. *Id.* ¶ 17. In other words, there is no basis for restricting the dissemination of CCJI when it would not serve to protect any

legitimate privacy interests.

Ellsworth's suggestion that Jefferson County compels restrictions on further dissemination also contradicts the fundamental principle that records disputes are, by their nature, idiosyncratic. District courts must exercise judgment to balance competing interests and reach a fair result "in the context of the facts of each case." Missoulian v. Board of Regents, 207 Mont. 513, 529, 675 P.2d 962, 971 (1984). That the district court in Jefferson County though it appropriate to limit further copying or publication (for some reason the record does not disclose) under the facts of that case is irrelevant. The district court in this case imposed no similar conditions and Ellsworth makes no showing that the court abused its discretion in this regard when no such conditions were requested.

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